2003

W. Scott McLaws and Utah Labor Commission v. Hedayat Kazamini, Kazz's Kars, Uninsured Employers Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal under U.C.A. §78-2a-3(4)(a) and Rule 14 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This appeal is from the order of the Appeals Board of the Utah Labor Commission entered on June 30, 2003 denying Kazemini's Motion for Review and granting McLaws' Motion for Review.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Mr. McLaws was at any time an employee of Kazz's Kars. R. pg. 85.

Applicable Standard of Review: Appellate courts apply an intermediate standard of review to determinations of the Utah Labor Commission and, therefore, review the commission's decisions for reasonableness. Johnson Bros. Const. v. Labor Com'n, 967 P.2d 1258 (Utah App. 1998). In reviewing commission orders, the appellate court defers to the commission's findings of fact unless it makes findings not supported by substantial evidence. Bennett v. Industrial Com'n of Utah, 726 P.2d 427 (Utah 1986). "Whether a worker is an employee within the meaning of the workmen's compensation laws requires the application of a statutory standard to the facts. Since resolution of the issue is not benefitted by Commission expertise or experience, we do not defer to the Commission's ruling." Id, at 429. It is a

matter of law whether the commission erred in ruling that Mr. McLaws was an employee. Id.

2. Whether Mr. McLaws was an employee of Kazz's Kars at the time of the accident on January 30, 2001. R. pg. 85

Applicable Standard of Review: Appellate courts apply an intermediate standard of review to determinations of the Utah Labor Commission and, therefore, review the commission's decisions for reasonableness. Johnson Bros. Const. v. Labor Com'n, 967 P.2d 1258 (Utah App. 1998). In reviewing commission orders, the appellate court defers to the commission's findings of fact unless it makes findings not supported by substantial evidence. Bennett v. Industrial Com'n of Utah, 726 P.2d 427 (Utah 1986). "Whether a worker is an employee within the meaning of the workmen's compensation laws requires the application of a statutory standard to the facts. Since resolution of the issue is not benefitted by Commission expertise or experience, we do not defer to the Commission's ruling." Id., at 429. It is a matter of law whether the commission erred in ruling that Mr. McLaws was an employee. Id.

3. Whether Mr. Kazamini was required to obtain workers compensation insurance.

Appellate courts apply an intermediate standard of review to determinations of the Utah Labor Commission and, therefore,

review the commission's decisions for reasonableness. Johnson Bros. Const. v. Labor Com'n, 967 P.2d 1258 (Utah App. 1998).

4. Whether Mr. McLaws was paid an average of \$752.25 per week for the services he provided to Kazz's Kars. R. pg. 92.

Applicable Standard of Review: Appellate courts apply an intermediate standard of review to determinations of the Utah Labor Commission and, therefore, review the commission's decisions for reasonableness. Johnson Bros. Const. v. Labor Com'n, 967 P.2d 1258 (Utah App. 1998).

APPLICABLE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Definition of an independent contractor:

U.C.A. §34A-2-103(2)(a) states as follows:

"Independent contractor" means any person engaged in the performance of any work for another who, while so engaged, is:

- (i) independent of the employer in all that pertains to the execution of the work;
- (ii) not subject to the routine rule or control of the employer;
- (iii) engaged only in the performance of a definite job or piece of work; and
- iv) subordinate to the employer only in effecting a result in accordance with the employer's design.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Kazamini teaches school full time at Layton High School as a shop teacher and sells used cars through a business, Kazz's Kars, to supplement his income. If the vehicles are damaged he makes arrangements to have them repaired before he sells them. The repairs are made at Mr. Kazamini's shop at 3994

South 300 West, Salt Lake City, Utah. Mr. Kazamini arranges for the repairs by entering into a contract with a auto body repair man. Mr. W. Scott McLaws was an auto body repair man who entered into contracts with Mr. Kazamini. Mr. Kazamini has little or no experience or knowledge regarding auto body repair.

Petitioner, W. Scott McLaws, filed an Application for Hearing with the Utah Labor Commission on April 2, 2001 regarding an accident which occurred on January 30, 2001. Petitioner claimed entitlement to medical expenses, recommended medical care, temporary total disability compensation and permanent partial disability compensation. Said application was heard on November 5, 2001, the Honorable Richard M. La Jeunesse, Administrative Law Judge, presiding. On July 30, 2002 the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order were signed and mailed to the parties. The Court determined that petitioner was an employee of respondent at the time of the accident and awarded certain benefits.

A Motion for Review was filed by Mr. McLaws on August 20, 2002 and a Motion for Review was filed by Mr. Kazamini on August 29, 2002. On June 30, 2003 the Appeals Board of the Utah Labor Commission entered its Order Denying Kazemini's Motion for Review and Order Granting McLaws' Motion for Review.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts are divided into numbered paragraphs to make reference thereto more convenient:

1. At all times relevant hereto, Mr. Kazamini was teaching school full time at Layton High School as a shop teacher and selling cars to supplement his income. Mr. Kazamini has little or no experience or knowledge regarding auto body repair. Trn. pg. 120 ln. 9-25 and pg. 112 ln. 22 - pg. 113 ln. 7.

2. Mr. Kazamini sells used cars through a business, Kazz's Kars, which he owns and operates. Trn. pg. 112 ln. 24 - pg. 113 ln. 7.

3. If the vehicles are damaged he makes arrangements to have them repaired before he sells them. Trn. pg. 112 ln. 25 - pg. 113 ln. 7.

4. The repairs were made at Mr. Kazamini's shop at 3994 South 300 West, Salt Lake City, Utah.

5. Mr. Kazamini arranges for the repairs by entering into a contract with a auto body repair man. Trn. pg. 112 ln. 25 - pg. 113 ln. 7.

6. Mr. McLaws began to provide auto body services for Mr. Kazamini during the summer, 2000. Trn. pg. 11 ln. 9-12.

7. Mr. McLaws also worked for Rocky Mountain Collision and Abra, Utah, Inc., at this time. Mr. McLaws testified that his wife said that if he worked more for Mr. Kazamini they could have

a van. Trn. pg. 11 ln. 9-1; pg. 211 ln. 8-15 and pg. 131 ln. 25 - pg. 132 ln. 3.

8. Accordingly, Mr. McLaws began to do more work for Mr. Kazamini at the end of October, 2000 because he wanted to trade his work for a 1999 Dodge Caravan which Mr. Kazamini had purchased and which needed \$3,000.00 in repairs. Trn. pg. 134 ln. 6-20 and R. pg. 74.

9. Mr. McLaws acknowledged that he did auto body work at his home and that it was not uncommon for body repair men to fix their cars and friend's cars. He also worked with a buddy to whom he owed a favor. Trn. pg. 17 ln. 10-12 and pg. 18 ln. 25 - pg. 19 ln. 3.

10. During part of September, October, November and part of December, 2000 Mr. McLaws provided most of the auto body repair services used by Mr. Kazamini. Trn. pg. 237 ln. 15-25; pg. 140 ln. 2; and pg. 141 ln. 9.

11. Mr. McLaws determined what hours he worked. The testimony is undisputed that if Mr. McLaws didn't want to work for 2 or 3 days, he didn't and he didn't discuss it with Mr. Kazamini. Trn. pg. 208 ln. 23 - pg. 209 ln. 1; pg. 216 ln. 25 - pg. 217 ln. 23; and pg. 162 ln. 10-14.

12. Mr. McLaws determined what work was done on a vehicle, when it was done and how it was done. Mr. Kazamini had little or no knowledge regarding auto body work and did not exercise any

control over the work. Trn. pg. 82 ln. 19 - pg. 83 ln. 1 and pg. 84 ln. 5-10.

13. Mr. McLaws would examine the vehicle, submit a bid regarding what work needed to be done in his opinion and include in the bid the amount for which Mr. McLaws would do the work. Mr. McLaws would determine what work needed to be done and tell Mr. Kazamini what parts he should buy, what supplies were needed and what paint Mr. Kazamini should buy. Trn. pg. 29 ln. 17-22; pg. 30 ln 14-23; pg. 31 ln. 2-25; and pg. 81 and pg. 82.

14. Mr. Kazamini was never at the shop except that he would come to the shop after he was finished teaching, to see if the repairs were finished so that the vehicle could be sold. Trn. pg. 29 ln. 5-6; pg. 127ln. 3-8; and pg. 145 ln. 11-15.

15. Mr. Kazamini's only input in the repair process was how much he would pay Mr. McLaws and whether the look of the repaired vehicle was sufficient that Mr. Kazamini could sell the vehicle. Trn. pg. 29 ln. 17-22; pg. 127 ln. 3-8 and pg. 208 ln. 12-22.

16. Very rarely did anyone come to the shop for repair work to an automobile owned by the customer. If that occurred Mr. McLaws would determine what work needed to be done and the cost of the work and then Mr. Kazamini would add an amount to cover the cost of the shop. Trn. pg. 236 ln. 13 - pg. 237 ln. 7; pg. 183 ln. 11-12, 15-22; and pg. 67 ln. 16 - pg. 68 ln. 6.

17. Mr. McLaws acknowledged that he had his own auto body repair tools including the specialized auto body repair tools which he used as needed. It is disputed whether Mr. Kazamini had anything more than a few ordinary tools. Trn. pg. 27 ln. 13-16; pg. 86 ln. 2-7; and pg. 190 ln. 10 - pg. 192 ln. 2.

18. No benefits of any kind were provided by Mr. Kazamini and Mr. Kazamini did not withhold taxes. Trn. pg. 209 ln. 17-23.

19. Part of December, 2000 and January, 2001 Mr. McLaws worked on restoring the body of a Chevrolet pickup which belonged to a customer of Mr. McLaws. Nothing was paid to Mr. Kazamini in regard to the pickup. The 1972 Chevrolet pickup was not removed from Mr. Kazamini's shop by Mr. McLaws until February 1, 2001. Trn. pg. 87 ln. 11-1; pg. 162 ln. 16-25; pg. 181 ln. 16-22; and pg. 192 ln. 10-14.

20. While Mr. McLaws was restoring the pickup there was no room in the shop to work on any other vehicle. He had two beds and the pickup in the shop. Trn. pg. 114 ln. 5-7, 10-14, 16-21; and pg. 170 ln. 1-22.

21. Mr. McLaws did not do any work for Mr. Kazamin after mid-December, 2000. Ex. 4, R. pg 68-69 and pg. 146 ln. 5-9.

22. Mr. Kazamini refused to submit anymore vehicles for bid to Mr. McLaws because of the quality of his work. Trn. pg. 146 ln. 15-19.

23. Because the pickup was disassemble Mr. McLaws had to have the vehicle towed on February 1, 2001 rather than drive it. Trn. pg. 194 ln. 10-14.

24. Mr. McLaws never purchased the van because in January, 2001 he used his credit for services he had provided to Mr. Kazamini to purchase a Trooper from Mr. Kazamini. The paper work regarding the sale could not be completed until the repairs to the Trooper were complete and it had passed a safety inspection. Trn. pg. 179 ln. 3-13 and pg. 180 ln. 9-12 and 16-19.

25. Mr. McLaws claims he cut his hand on January 30, 2001 while working on the Trooper for Mr. Kazamini even though there was no room in the shop to work on the Trooper because Mr. McLaws was using the shop to restore the Chevrolet pickup for his customer. Trn. pg. 254 ln. 20-22.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Kazamini never controlled the time of work, method of work or manner of work of Mr. McLaws. His only right was to control the end result and to terminate his agreement with Mr. McLaws based on legitimate grounds. Accordingly, Mr. McLaws was never an employee of Kazz's Kars.

At the time of Mr. McLaws' accident he was either working on a vehicle of a customer of his or he was working on a vehicle which he owned. His relationship with Mr. Kazamini had terminated and Mr. Kazamini was just waiting for him to remove

the Chevy pickup from the shop. Accordingly, Mr. McLaws was not an employee of Kazz's Kars on January 30, 2001. As a result Mr. McLaws is not entitled to any recover from Mr. Kazamini.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER AN EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONSHIP EXISTED BETWEEN KAZZ'S KARS AND SCOTT MCLAWS.

U.C.A. §34A-2-103(2)(a) states as follows:

"Independent contractor" means any person engaged n the performance of any work for another who, while so engaged, is:

- (i) independent of the employer in all that pertains to the execution of the work;
- (ii) not subject to the routine rule or control of the employer;
- (iii) engaged only in the performance of a definite job or piece of work; and
- iv) subordinate to the employer only in effecting a result in accordance with the employer's design.

In every single respect the relationship between Mr. McLaws and Mr. Kazemini fits the above definition of an independent contractor. Mr. Kazemini was not present while Mr. McLaws performed the work in regard to which he had submitted a bid. He came to the shop when he wanted, left when he wanted and didn't come if he didn't want to. There was absolutely no control over him while he was at the shop. Mr. McLaws was engaged in the performance of a definite job or piece of work and the only input Mr. Kazemini had was if the finished vehicle looked good enough that he could sell the vehicle and how much he would pay for the work.

In Stoica v. Pocol, 136 Idaho 661, 39 P.3d 601, 603 (Idaho 2001) the Idaho Supreme Court stated:

The ultimate question in finding an employment relationship is whether the employer assumes the right to control the times, manner and method of executing the work of the employee, as distinguished from the right merely to require definite results in conforming with the agreement.

The Arizona Court of Appeals in Special Fund Div. V. Industrial Com'n, 172 Ariz. 319, 836 P.2d 1029, 1033 (Ariz.App.Div.2 1992)

further explained this test as follows:

[T]he exercise of "routine supervision" over an employee is not in itself sufficient to establish an employment relationship. "The right to control or supervise the method of reaching a specific result determines whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor." . . . In addition the applicable test is whether there is control over the method of reaching a desired result versus control over the end result. (Citations omitted).

Mr. Kazamini had no control over the times, manner and method of the work performed by Mr. McLaws. His only right was to require that the finished vehicle look good enough to be sold. Also, Mr. Kazamini had a right to terminate the agreement with Mr. McLaws based on legitimate grounds for dissatisfaction as opposed to a right to terminate at will. These rights do not create an employer-employee relationship. Burns v. Nyberg, 108 Idaho 151, 697 P.2d 1165 (Idaho 1985).

Mr. Kazamini described the operation of his business as follows:

Mr. Kazamini teaches school full time at Layton High School and coaches soccer as a shop teacher and sells cars to supplement his income - trn. pg. 120 ln.9-25; he operates a business, Kazz's Kars, wherein he sells used vehicles and if the vehicles are damaged he makes arrangements to have them repaired as instructed by the auto body person before he sells them - trn. pg. 112 ln. 24 - pg. 113 ln 7; he told Mr. McLaws that he was a dealer; that he didn't have a body shop; that he would buy damaged cars; Mr. McLaws would go over them and see what he needs to do and how much it would cost; Mr. McLaws would tell Mr. Kazamini and then they would agree or disagree - trn. pg. 112 ln. 22 - pg. 113 ln. 7.

This was the procedure followed every time because Mr. Kazamini didn't know what it would take to fix the car - trn. pg. 116 ln. 7-12.

In December, 2000 Mr. McLaws was the only person doing work for Mr. Kazamini and he was working on trade cars - trn. pg. 237 ln. 15-25.

In Bennett v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 726 P.2d 427, 429-430 (Utah 1986) the Utah Supreme Court stated:

It will almost always follow that if the evidence shows that an "employer" retains the right to control the work of the claimant, the claimant is the employer's employee for workmen's compensation purposes. (Citations omitted). Certainly, the concept of right to control is not to be rigidly and narrowly defined.

Rather it should be defined to give full effect to the remedial purposes of the Workmen's Compensation Act. (Citations omitted).

.
Many factors have been applied in determining the right to control. Among those factors are actual supervision of the worker, the extent of the supervision, the method of payment, the furnishing of equipment for the worker, and the right to terminate the worker. (Citations omitted). Although these factors are not inclusive, they are relevant in many cases.

In the instant case none of the above factors exist except there is a dispute regarding whether Mr. Kazamin furnished equipment to Mr. McLaws and the extent of what equipment was furnished to Mr. McLaws.

In Averett v. Grange, 909 P.2d 246, 250 (Utah 1995) the Utah Supreme Court stated:

[T]he most important factor in determining whether an employer-employee relationship exists is not what relationship the parties intended to create, but what relationship was *in fact* created.

In this case it was an independent contractor relationship which was in fact created between Mr. Kazamini and Mr. McLaws.

In Broadway Deluxe Cab v. National Council on Compensation Insurance, et al., 113 Or.App. 482, 833 P.2d 1303 (Or.App. 1992) the Court of Appeals of Oregon analyzed whether taxi drivers were employees of a taxi company. The court analyzed that the drivers have absolute control over how much or how little they work; can conduct themselves in any manner they see fit as long as they do not violate company policy; control their rate of compensation by setting fares, choosing zones and deciding how many hours to

operate the taxi; dispatching services are provided but drivers are not required to use them; and the company provided taxis to the drivers. The court held that the drivers were not employees. There is no substantive difference between the above case and the instant case. Mr. McLaws had absolute control over how much or how little he worked; he conducted his work in the manner he saw fit; he controlled his compensation through the bid process, how many hours it took him to complete the particular job and how many hours he was willing to work; and there were some ordinary tools available to Mr. McLaws, but he was not required to use the tools and often used his own specialized tools. Accordingly, Mr. McLaws was never an employee of Kazz's Kars.

A. Findings of the Court.

In its findings the Court relied upon an advertisement which read: "AUTO/PAINTER FRAME TECH top wages, Full or part time."

Exhibit No. 1, R. pg. 63.

Regarding the ad, Mr. Kazamini explained:

He meant he was looking for someone who could help him a few hours; when Mr. McLaws began doing work for Mr. Kazamini he was doing one job at a time - trn. pg. 228 ln. 7-17; it increased sometime in October and November - trn. pg. 228 ln. 18-21; he increased the amount of time he was putting towards the work he was doing so that he could get a van - trn. pg. 228 ln. 24 - pg. 229 ln. 4.

Mr. McLaws testified:

He asked Mr. Kazamini to take out taxes and to help him with insurance and Mr. Kazamini said he would and that's why Mr. McLaws started working full-time for him - - trn. pg. 251 ln. 10-14; he didn't work for anyone else up until -. trn. pg. 251 ln. 20-21; he completely thought he was an employee and he was never told not to go on the premises - trn. pg. 254 ln. 22-24.

It is insufficient that Mr. Kazemini referred to wages or to full or part time in an abbreviated 2 line ad. It was a term used in an abbreviated context by a lay person. In substance the relationship was not that of an employer-employee and Mr. Kazamini did not have the right to control Mr. McLaws. The most important factor is what relationship was in fact created.

Averett 909 P.2d at 250.

The Court also made the following findings:

1. Mr. Kazamini engaged the services of Mr. McLaws based on his response to the advertisement of employment - R pg. 86;
2. As of September, 2000 Mr. McLaws began to work full time 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. for Mr. Kazamini - R. pg. 87;
3. Mr. McLaws repaired all of the vehicles at Mr. Kazemini's shop - R. pg. 87;

4. The preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Mr. Kazamini supplied the tools, parts, and supplies used by Mr. McLaws to repair vehicles for Mr. Kazamini - R. pg. 87; and

5. Mr. Kazamini monitored the quality and progress of the jobs performed by Mr. McLaws - R. pg. 87.

1. Finding: Mr. Kazamini Engaged the Services of Mr. McLaws Based on his Response to the Advertisement of Employment.

Mr. McLaws testified:

He called on an ad in July, 2000; went to the shop and talked to Mr. Kazamini - trn. pg. 11 ln. 3-6; Mr. McLaws had another part-time job he was working at a different location and he started working for Kaz about a month later - trn. pg. 11 ln. 9-12; he worked part time for Mr. Kazamini in September and he was working for Rocky Mountain Collision - trn. pg. 26 ln. 2-8; He was uncertain when he quit working for Rocky Mountain - trn. pg. 27 ln. 17-25. Mr. Kazamini didn't have "any idea of anything" - trn. pg. 84 ln. 9-10; he has no idea how to fix a car - trn. pg. 29 ln. 22-25; he wanted them just done - trn. pg. 84 ln. 18-20; he wasn't sure how to bid jobs; he would use body guys to get kind of an idea; trn. pg. 24 ln. 19-21.

At the time of the ad Mr. McLaws was working for another business. Approximately one month after the ad, Mr. McLaws began to do some work for Mr. Kazamini and advise him regarding auto body repairs. Initially, Mr. McLaws was providing auto repair

services to both Mr. Kazamini and Rocky Mountain Collision. There was nothing in the initial relationship between Mr. Kazamini and Mr. McLaws to find that Mr. Kazamini had a right to control Mr. McLaws. To the contrary, according to Mr. McLaws the work for Mr. Kazamini was performed on a bid basis. And contrary to the finding of the Appeals Board, Mr. McLaws was performing the same services for other businesses.

2. Finding: As of September, 2000 Mr. McLaws Began to Work Full Time 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. for Mr. Kazamini.

Mr. McLaws testified:

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