2003

# W. Scott McLaws and Utah Labor Commission v. Hedayat Kazamini, Kazz's Kars, Uninsured Empoyers Fund : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Although Kazamini challenges the Appeals Board's findings of fact, he has failed to marshal the evidence to show that those findings are unsupported by substantial evidence. To the contrary, the evidence presented in this matter, as identified by the Commission in this brief, fully supports the Appeals Board's findings.

In light of the Appeals Board's findings of fact and the long-established principle that the Utah Workers' Compensation Act must be liberally construed in favor of coverage and compensation for injured workers, the Appeals Board reasonably concluded that McLaws was Kazamini's employee at the time of McLaws' workplace injury and that

Kazamini is liable for McLaws' workers' compensation benefits. Likewise, the Appeals Board reasonably concluded that Kazamini is liable for the noncompliance penalty established by Section 34A-2-211(2) of the Act. The Commission therefore respectfully urges this Court to affirm the Appeals Board's decision.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT ONE: KAZAMINI HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE APPEALS BOARD'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE UNSUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.**

Kazamini's failure to marshal the evidence. Because Kazamini challenges the Appeals Board's findings of fact regarding the nature of the relationship between Kazamini and McLaws, the burden falls to Kazamini to show that the Appeals Board's findings of fact are "not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." Section 63-46b-16(4)(g), Utah Administrative Procedures Act; Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review; 776 P. 2d 63, 67-68 (Utah App. 1998). To meet this burden, Kazamini must "marshal all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. Grace Drilling at 68.

Kazamini's brief selectively presents only that evidence which supports his view of the facts. He ignores all contrary evidence. In particular, he ignores McLaws' testimony and the documentary evidence that the Appeals Board found persuasive. Because Kazamini has failed to meet his burden of marshalling the evidence, this Court should reject his challenge to the Appeals Board's findings of fact. Intermountain Health Care v. Industrial Commission, 839 P. 2d 841, 844 (Utah App. 1992).

Substantial evidence supports the Appeals Board's findings. Even though it is not the Commission's burden to marshal the evidence in support of the Appeals Board's findings, the Commission nevertheless submits that each of the Appeals Board's material findings is supported by substantial evidence.

The Commission directs this Court's attention to the "statement of facts" which begins at page 10 of this brief. There, the Commission has identified the evidentiary basis for each material fact on which the Appeals Board based its decision. The Commission will not repeat that evidence here.

While the testimony of Kazamini and McLaws was substantially different in some regards, it was the duty of the Appeals Board to determine which version was correct. The Appeals Board accepted McLaws' evidence. Because Kazamini failed to demonstrate that the Appeals Board's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence, this Court should affirm the Board's findings.

**POINT TWO: THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT IS  
LIBERALLY CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF COMPENSATION**

The Utah Workers' Compensation Act must be liberally construed in favor of coverage and compensation. In Chandler v. Industrial Commission, 184 P. 1020, 1021 (Utah 1919), decided only a few years after enactment of the Utah Employers' Liability Act (predecessor to the Utah Workers' Compensation Act), the Utah Supreme Court applied this principle of liberal construction, stating: "Upon the question that the Employers' Liability Act should be liberally construed and so as to effectuate its purposes, all courts agree."

Since then, Utah courts have continued to apply this principle of liberal construction. In Park Utah Consol. Mines v. Industrial Commission, 84 Utah 841, 36 P.2d 979, 981 (Utah 1934), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

If there is any doubt “respecting the right to compensation, such doubt should be resolved in favor of the employee or of his dependents as the case may be.” (Citing Chandler v. Industrial Commission, supra.)

Likewise, in Maryland Cas. Co. v. Industrial Comm., 12 Utah 2d 223, 364 P.2d 1020, 1022 (Utah 1961), the Utah Supreme Court explained the policy reasons behind the principle of liberal construction:

These purposes inhere in (the Act): that injuries suffered in employment should be spread throughout and be borne by industry; and that compensation should be provided to alleviate economic hardship falling on injured workers and their dependents, which in turn has a beneficial effect in stabilizing the economy. . .

To accomplish its salutary purposes, the Act should be liberally construed in favor of coverage of the claimant.

More recently, in Heaton v. Second Injury Fund, 796 P.2d 676, 679 (Utah 1990), the Court stated:

It is the duty of the courts and the commission to construe the Workers’ Compensation Act liberally and in favor of employee coverage when statutory terms reasonably admit of such a construction.

During the last several years, both the Utah Supreme Court and this Court have reaffirmed the continued vitality of the principle of liberal construction: See Olsen v. Samuel McIntyre Inv. Co, 956 P.2d at 260 (Utah 1998); Burgess v. Siaperas Sand & Gravel, 965 P.2d 583, 588 (Utah App. 1998); AE Clevite v. Labor Commission, 996 P.2d 1072, 1074 (Utah 2000).

So, for the last 80 years, Utah's appellate courts have enforced "the common law principle of liberal construction in favor of injured employees that is at the heart of the Act." Burgess, 965 P.2d at 588. The Commission recognizes that this principle of liberal construction does not mean that compensation should be allowed in every claim. Walls v. Industrial Commission, 857 P.2d 964, (Utah App. 1993). However, in a case such as this, where substantial evidence establishes the existence of an employer/employee relationship and also establishes that the employee's injuries were work-related, the principle of liberal construction supports the Appeals Board's decision awarding benefits to McLaws and holding Kazamini liable for those benefits.

**POINT THREE: THROUGHOUT THE DURATION OF THE KAZEMINI/MCLAWS RELATIONSHIP, AND SPECIFICALLY AT THE TIME OF MCLAWS' WORKPLACE INJURY, KAZEMINI WAS MCLAWS' EMPLOYER.**

Kazamini's status as an employer. The central issue in this case is whether Kazamini was McLaws' employer. Section §34A-2-104(1)(b) of the Act defines an "employee" as "each person in the service of any employer, as defined in Section 34A-2-103, . . . under any contract of hire, express or implied, oral or written, . . . ." (Emphasis added.) An individual is "in the service" of an alleged employer when the individual is subject to the employer's control. Bennett v. Industrial Commission, 726 P.2d 427 (Utah 1986).

In Bennett and also in Young v. Industrial Commission, 538 P.2d 318 (Utah 1975), the Court identified some of the factors which indicate the existence of an employment relationship, such as 1) extent and right of supervision; 2) method of payment; 3) provision

of equipment; 4) right to terminate; and 5) whether the individual has other clients. More recently, in Averett v. Grange, 909 P.2d 246, 249 (Utah 1995), the Utah Supreme Court emphasized the importance of the “control” test in determining whether an individual is an employee for purposes of the Workers’ Compensation Act:

In workers’ compensation cases, this court has consistently held that whether an employer-employee relationship exists depends upon the employer’s right to control the employee. . . . “It is not the actual exercise of control that determines whether an employer-employee relationship exists; it is the right to control that is determinative.” (citations omitted; emphasis added.)

The underlying facts of this case establish that Kazamini is the sole owner/operator of “Kazz’s Kars.” (Transcript at 220) It was he who possessed the business license and the business premises. (Transcript at 113, 141, 166) In contrast, there is no evidence that McLaws had a business license, insurance or business premise of his own. McLaws did not advertise or otherwise hold himself out as available to do freelance auto body repairs. With the exception of repairs to a neighbor’s truck, McLaws’ work came entirely from Kazamini. McLaws had no clientele of his own.

Kazamini’s business plan for “Kazz’s Kars” was to buy wrecked vehicles at auction, make necessary repairs, then sell the vehicles to the public at a profit. Under this business plan, the function of repairing collision damage was integral to Kazamini’s operation. It was for that reason that Kazamini advertised to hire an “auto/painter frame tech” at “top wages” for either “full or part time” work. (R. at 63) After going to work for Kazamini, McLaws was not required to provide any supplies, parts or other materials. To the contrary,

Kazamini provided all such items. (Transcript at 31, 81, 126) Clearly, McLaws was not established in his own business, but was entirely dependent upon Kazamini.

Another indication that Kazamini was McLaws' employer is the fact that Kazamini carried all risk of business losses, but likewise had a right to all profits. For example, when customers were dissatisfied with repairs McLaws had performed to vehicles purchased from Kazz's Kars, Kazamini accepted responsibility for correcting the deficiencies, without in turn seeking recourse to McLaws. (Transcript at 148, 150-152) Additionally, Kazamini had the power to direct the order of McLaws' work (Transcript at 84) and to change McLaws' repair bids. (Transcript at 68, 192)

The Appeals Board noted that McLaws was paid a piece rate, rather than an hourly wage, but observed that this compensation method was common throughout the auto body repair industry and did not indicate that McLaws was self-employed. Likewise, the Appeals Board recognized that Kazamini's daytime employment prevented him from directly supervising McLaws' moment-to-moment activities, but did not diminish Kazamini's authority over McLaws.

On balance, the Appeals Board concluded that the evidence established Kazamini had the right to control McLaws in all significant aspects of his work. Because of this right of control, an employer-employee relationship existed between Kazamini and McLaws. The Appeals Board's conclusion is supported by substantial evidence and should be upheld by this Court.

McLaws' status as an employee at the time of his accident. Kazamini contends that, even if McLaws was his employee for some period of time, McLaws was not his employee



at the time of the accident that gives rise to McLaws' workers' compensation claim. According to Kazamini, McLaws was working on his own vehicle when the accident occurred and was not performing any service for Kazamini.

The Appeals Board considered this specific issue, but did not accept Kazamini's version of fact. Instead, the Appeals Board found that McLaws had worked on a personal project (restoring a neighbor's truck) during most of January, 2001. (Transcript at 49) However, that personal project was completed by the end of January 2001, and McLaws then resumed his work for Kazamini. Specifically, McLaws began repair of an Isuzu Trooper. (Transcript at 20). It was in the course of repairing this vehicle for Kazamini that McLaws severely cut his left hand on a sharp piece of metal. (Transcript at 12, 72, 73)

Once again, Kazamini has failed to marshal the evidence so as to demonstrate that the Appeals Board's findings are in error. The Appeals Board's finding that McLaws was Kazamini's employee at the time of McLaws' accident is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

**POINT FOUR: THE APPEALS BOARD'S FINDINGS REGARDING MCLAWS' WAGES AND HIS DISABILITY COMPENSATION ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.**

Kazamini challenges the Appeals Board's award of disability compensation to McLaws, but only on the grounds that McLaws' actual wages were less than the amount found by the Appeals Board.

The Appeals Board carefully considered the evidence regarding the amount of McLaws' wages. (R. 237; Appendix A), then made the following specific findings:

For the most part, Kazamini paid McLaws in cash, with no taxes of any sort withheld. At the end of the 2000 tax year, Kazamini provided neither a W-2 nor a 1099 tax form to McLaws. In addition to cash payments from Kazamini, McLaws allowed Kazamini to hold approximately \$3,500 to be applied as a credit against the purchase price of a van McLaws hoped to purchase from Kazamini.

Due to Kazamini's lax business practices and failure to maintain any credible information regarding McLaws' earnings, it is necessary to turn to other evidence to establish McLaws' average weekly wage. The Appeals Board concludes that McLaws' record of earnings, set forth in exhibits 3 and 4 of the record, are the most accurate and persuasive representation of McLaws' earnings. From this evidence, it appears that McLaws earned \$16,549.41 during the 22-week period from August through December, 2000, or \$752.25 per week. The Appeals Board finds that the foregoing wage information is fairly representative of McLaws' average weekly wage. Consequently, with credit for a spouse and three dependent children, McLaws' weekly compensation rate for temporary total disability is \$522 per week.

Although Kazamini argues that the Appeals Board has misstated McLaws' earnings, Kazamini makes no effort to marshal the evidence on these factual questions. In fact, Kazamini makes no reference whatsoever to the evidentiary basis for the Appeals Board's findings. (See McLaws' testimony set forth in the hearing transcript at pages 12 and 102-106; also Exhibits 3 and 4 at R. 66 and R. 68). Instead, Kazamini relies entirely on his own ambiguous testimony and inadequate records.

Because Kazamini has failed to discharge his duty to marshal the evidence regarding McLaws' earnings so as to discredit the Appeals Board's findings, the Court should reject Kazamini's argument. But even if the Court overlooks Kazamini's failure to marshal the evidence, the Court should nevertheless affirm the Appeals Board's findings because they are supported by substantial evidence in the record.

**POINT FIVE: THE APPEALS BOARD PROPERLY ASSESSED NONCOMPLIANCE PENALTY AGAINST KAZAMINI FOR HIS FAILURE TO MAINTAIN WORKERS' COMPENSATION COVERAGE.**

The Commission's Industrial Accidents Division assessed a penalty of \$1,000 against Kazamini pursuant to Section 34A-2-211(2) of the Act because Kazamini had failed to obtain workers' compensation coverage as required by Section 34A-2-201 of the Act. Judge La Jeunesse and the Appeals Board both upheld the penalty assessment. Kazamini now contends he was not required to obtain workers' compensation coverage because he did not have any employees.

Section 34A-2-201 of the Act requires every employer to "secure the payment of workers' compensation benefits for its employees" either by purchasing commercial workers' compensation insurance or by obtaining permission from the Commission to self-insure. As this Court recently observed in Anabasis, Inc. v. Labor Commission, 30 P.3<sup>rd</sup> 1236, 1240 (Utah App. 2001):

The requirement to insure and keep insured is mandatory for all employers in Utah. See Industrial Commission v. Daly Mining Co., 51 Utah 602, 172 P. 301, 303-06 (1918). Further, the Insurance Statute "imposes an unconditional obligation on employers to be properly insured." Thomas A. Paulsen Co. v. Industrial Commission, 770 P.2d 125, 128 n. 4 (Utah 1989).

Employers who fail to obtain workers' compensation coverage as required by Section 34A-2-201 are subject to penalty pursuant to Section 34A-2-211(2) of the Act:

(a) . . . the division may impose a penalty against the employer under this Subsection (2):

....

(ii) if the division believes that an employer of one or more employees is conducting business without securing the payment of benefits in one of the three ways provided in Section 34A-2-201.